### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FED 19 6

CREED	MARTIN	VANOVER,	
-------	--------	----------	--

Petitioner, :

vs.

Appeal No. 84-2193 Case No.\_\_\_\_

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

Allyn Giambalvo Assistant Public Defender Criminal Courts Complex 5100 - 144th Avenue North Clearwater, Florida 33520

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

## TOPICAL

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Creed Martin Vanover was charged with two counts of Aggravated Battery. The trial of Petitioner was held on September 19-21, 1984, before the Honorable Gerard O'Brien, Jr., Circuit Judge. After hearing the testimony, the arguments, and being instructed by the court on the law, the jury deliberated and acquitted Petitioner of one count, but found him guilty on the remaining count. Appellant was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to ten years imprisonment with the three year mandatory minimum imposed. The guideline recommendation was community control or twelve to thirty months incarceration.

Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal to the Second District
Court of Appeal, Lakeland, Florida. In a written opinion the
court held that the trial court's reasons for departure were
valid, i.e., that the court could consider all the circumstances
surrounding the incident, the severity of the victim's injuries,
and the resulting danger to life even though victim injury was
scored so as to arrive at the recommended sentence. The District

Court of Appeal also held that it could use the trial judge's reasons, could be "fleshed out" by reference to remarks made at the sentencing hearing. The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence and denied Petitioner's Motion Motion for Rehearing. Petitioner now requests this Court to accept jurisdiction pursuant to F.R.App.P. 9.030(2)(A)(iv).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal holding that the severity of victim injury can be used as a grounds for departure, and that the trial court's oral pronouncements may be used to "flesh out" its written reasons, expressly and directly conflicts with Ross v. State, (1st DCA November 14, 1985)[10 F.L.W. 2540] and Davis v. State, (1st DCA October 9, 1985)[10 F.L.W. 2311].

#### ARGUMENT

Petitioner was sentenced to ten years imprisonment, a significant departure from the guideline recommendation of three years. 1. The trial court's reasons for departure were as follows:

- 1.) The offense of shooting Kim Carevic was done without any moral or legal justification.
- 2.) The defendant intended to murder Kim Carevic and it was only by a stroke of luck that Kim Carevic avoided being murdered.
- 3.) The manner of shooting of Kim Carevic, being at close range and at the body of the victim created a great risk of serious bodily harm and or death to the victim.
- 4.) This was a particularly aggravated set of circumstances which sets this case far and above the average aggravated battery.

Petitioner contends that none of the aforementioned reasons justify a departure, especially so significant a departure, from the guideline recommended sentence.

First, Reasons #1 and #4 are improper because Petitioner did justify his actions on the grounds of self defense and his apprehension that the so called "victims" were about to take his money and beat him up. The jury apparently did not totally discount Petitioner's testimony, as both the trial court and District Court did, because they saw fit to acquit Petitioner of one of the charges.

<sup>1.</sup> The actual recommendation was community control/twelve to thirty months, however, as the three-year minimum mandatory provisions for use of a firearm were applicable they took precedence. F.R.Cr.P. 3.701(d)(9.)

Secondly, Reasons #2 and #3 attempt to justify departure on the basis of what could have occurred, not what actually happened. The trial court makes mention that Petitioner intended to murder the victim and would have done so, but for the intervention of fate. This is improper justification for departure because it in essence penalized Petitioner for a higher crime which he was never charged with or convicted of. This is clearly prohibited by F.R.Cr.P. 3.701(d), and is contrary to Sloan v. State, 472 So.2d 488 (2d DCA 1985) and Marshall v. State, 468 So.2d 255 (2d DCA 1985). The Second District Court of appeal totally ignored these facts in its opinion and instead focused on the severity of the victim's injury although the victim injury had been factored into the recommended sentence.

The Second District Court of Appeal's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with the holdings in Ross v. State, (1st DCA November 14, 1985)[10 F.L.W. 2540]. The First District in Ross held that where the nature and extent of the victim's injury was an element of the statute under which the defendant was convicted and therefore already factored into the scoresheet, it did not constitute a valid reason for departure. The same holding was made in another Second District case, Francis v. State, 475 So.2d 1367 (2d DCA 1985) where the court specifically stated that for a conviction of aggravated battery the trial court could not use

the extent or severity of the attack on the victim as grounds to depart because it was already factored in.

The Second District Court of Appeal also used the trial court's oral pronouncements to "flesh out" the admitted paucity of factual support for the trial court's written reasons. This practice is in express and direct conflict with the holding in <a href="Davis v. State">Davis v. State</a>, (1st DCA October 9, 1985)[10 F.L.W. 2311] which states that any justification for departure not in writing, although compelling, may not be considered.

As none of the trial court's enumerated reasons presented clear and convincing reasons for departure, and the Second District Court of Appeal's opinion totally ignored this fact as well as expressly and directly conflicting with its own earlier opinion and that of the First District Court of Appeal in Ross and Davis, supra, this Court should grant the Petition for Discretionary Review.

### CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing reasons, arguments and authorities, Petitioner has demonstrated that conflict does exist so as to invoke discretionary review of this Court.