IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

1			E	רו
	SID	J. W	VHITE	
	MAR	3	33.0	h
CLER	K, SUF	REL	IE Co	1
~				URT
	hief De	why i	Year	1

CREED MARTIN VANOVER,	Chief Deputy Clerk
Petitioner,)
v.) CASE NO. 68,254
THE STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Respondent.))

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM I. MUNSEY, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(313) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SM/ctc

TABLE OF CITATIONS

	PAGE
Albritton v. State, 476 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1985)	5
Davis v. State, 476 So.2d 303 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985)	4,5
Francis v. State, 475 So.2d 1366 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985)	5

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the Statement of the Case and Facts presented by Petitioner in his initial brief except where specifically pointed out in Argument.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is no holding from either this Court or any Florida district court of appeal which prohibits an appellate court from going to the record proper to find factual support for the written reasons for departure. Also, there is no legislative or judicial intent to eliminate victim injury from being subjectly factored into a guidelines sentence.

ARGUMENT

This is another of the legion of sentencing guidelines cases to reach this Court. In the trial court, Judge O'Brien rendered the following five (5) written reasons for departure:

- (1) The charge of Aggravated Battery with a Firearm requires a minimum mandatory sentence of at least three years in the Department of Corrections;
- (2) The offense of shooting Kim Carevic was done without any moral or legal justification;
- (3) The defendant intended to murder Kim Carevic, and it was only by a stroke of luck that Kim Carevic avoided being murdered;
- (4) The manner of the shooting of Kim Carevic, being at close range and at the body of the victim, created a great risk of serious bodily harm and/or death to the victim; and
- (5) This was a particularly aggravated set of circumstances which sets this case far and above the average Aggravated Battery.

 (R. 44).

Initially, Petitioner finds fault with the following reasons:

- (a) The offense of shooting Kim Carevic was done without any moral or legal justification.
- (b) This was a particularly aggravated set of circumstances which sets this case far and above the average aggravated battery.

Petitioner finds these factual findings improper because of his defense: self-defense. That a jury acquitted Petitioner (R. 33) of Count One (R. 33 - 36), is urged as a matter of consequence. The rendition was not transcribed. (R. 531).

An acquittal is nothing more and nothing less in this case than a jury pardon which may be handed down for a myriad of reasons. There was no legal justification to shooting Kim Carevic and the conviction reflects same; and, the facts of this case leave no doubt but that this crime is elevated above the average aggravated battery. Petitioner urges conflict on the basis of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(d); Sloan v. State, 472 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). What Petitioner overlooks is that the aggravated battery is a crime against a person whether that crime be homicide, assault, battery, aggravated battery, child abuse, a family disturbance, and/or an offense against the liberty of a person. In part, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(d)(11) states: "Reasons for deviating from the guidelines shall not include factors relating to the instant offense for which convictions have not been obtained." For this proposition, Petitioner sets forth two more reasons as improper:

- (c) The defendant intended to murder Kim Carevic and it was only by a stroke of luck that Kim Carevic avoided being murdered;
- (d) The manner of shooting of Kim Carevic, being at close range and at the body of the victim created a great risk of serious bodily harm and or death to the victim.

Petitioner then sets forth <u>Davis v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 303 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 475 So.2d 1367 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); and, <u>Ross v. State</u>, 478 So.2d 480 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) for conflict. Both <u>Ross</u> and <u>Davis</u> hold that victim injury is not to be factored into a departure because the offense itself automatically factors itself into the scoresheet; and, <u>Davis</u> disapproves transcribed oral pronouncements as reasons for departure.

What Petitioner overlooks is that the case at bar does not conflict with the cases cited because inherent in the one at bar is the old common law doctrine of transferred intent. To recognize otherwise would be an unwarranted gift.

The opinion by Judge Frank in <u>Marshall v. State</u>, 468 So.2d 256 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) disapproved breaches of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(d) (11); however, the holding is a departure from guidelines sentence is subject to affirmance if one clear and convincing reason is stated as a valid reason for departure. This position was restated

in Sloan v. State, 472 So.2d 490, 491 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); "Notwithstanding that we invalidate two of the reasons considered by the trial court to be sufficient for departure, we have held that if only one remaining reason is sound, i.e., clear and convincing, the enhanced sentence will be affirmed." In Davis v. State, Judge Ervin distinguishes between oral and written reasons for departure. If the oral reason is distinct from the written reason, then it is improper to refer to the oral ones; however, the oral reasons at bar set forth the basis for the written ones. Thus, they are compatible and not indistinct. Judge Mills in Ross v. State, 478 So.2d 480 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) relied on this Court's opinion in Albritton v. State, 476 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1985) finding that where valid and invalid reasons exist for departure, the sentence should be reversed and remanded for resentencing unless the prosecution is able to establish beyohd a reasonable doubt that the absence of the invalid reasons would not have affected the departure A review of this record by the Second District suggests that the trial court would have sentenced Petitioner in the same manner even if invalid reasons exist. See also Francis v. State, 475 So.2d 1366 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) where the Second District was unable to determine under the reasonable doubt standard that the impermissible reasons did not affect the departure standard.

There is no conflict of decisions as the case at bar [Vanover v. State, 481 So.2d 31 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) reh. den.

January 10, 1986] harmonizes with all holdings cited by Petitioner.

There is no authority to prohibit an appellate court from going to the record to substantiate written reasons for departure. That is all that was done at bar. Nothing less and nothing more.

The decision of the Second District must remain intact.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, argument, and authority, Respondent would pray that this Honorable Court make and enter an Order denying discretionary review as no conflict of decisions exist.